RECEIVED

Jul 16 2020

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2019-001354

Stephen and Beverly Noller and Michael and Nancy Halwig, Appellants,

v.

Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Incorporated and South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff,
..... Respondents.

APPELLANTS' FINAL BRIEF

Newman J. Smith
Nelson Mullins Riley & Scarborough LLP
E-Mail: jack.smith@nelsonmullins.com
151 Meeting Street / Sixth Floor
Post Office Box 1806 (29402-1806)
Charleston, SC 29401-2239
(843) 853-5200

*Attorneys for Appellants Stephen and Beverly
Noller and Michael and Nancy Halwig*

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. DID THE COMMISSION ERR WHEN IT DENIED JURISDICTION OVER THIS MATTER WITHOUT ADDRESSING THE REQUIREMENT TO APPROVE THE AGREEMENT AT ISSUE?

- II. DID THE COMMISSION ERR IN DENYING JURISDICTION IN THIS MATTER WHERE RESPONDENT FAILED TO PROVIDE ADEQUATE AND PROPER WATER AND SEWER SERVICE TO APPELLANTS UNTIL APPELLANTS REPLACED ITS DESTROYED MAINS?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellants filed their initial Complaint in this matter with the Commission on November 16, 2018, Docket No. 2018-364-WS. At the request of the Commission, Appellants and Respondent Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Incorporated (“DIUC”) each filed a brief on jurisdictional matters on March 6, 2019, and Appellants and Respondents each filed a responsive brief on jurisdictional matters on March 13, 2019. On March 20, 2019, the Commission held a hearing solely on the issue of its jurisdiction.

On June 12, 2019, the Commission issued the Order dismissing the underlying Complaint in this matter determining as the sole basis for dismissal that the Commission does not have statutory authority to grant monetary damages in favor of Appellants in their Complaint against DIUC. On June 21, 2019, Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied on July 17, 2019.

Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal in this matter on August 15, 2019.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

The standard of review is governed by the Administrative Procedures Act, S.C. Code Ann. § 1-23-380(5), which provides as follows:

The court may reverse or modify the decision if substantial rights of the appellant have been prejudiced because the administrative findings, inferences, conclusions, or decisions are:

- (a) in violation of constitutional or statutory provisions;
- (b) in excess of the statutory authority of the agency;
- (c) made upon unlawful procedure;
- (d) affected by other error of law;
- (e) clearly erroneous in view of the reliable, probative, and substantial evidence on the whole record; or
- (f) arbitrary or capricious or characterized by abuse of discretion or clearly unwarranted exercise of discretion.

The decision of the Commission is entitled to a deferential standard and will be affirmed unless the decision is not supported by substantial evidence and does not represent an abuse of discretion. *See Total Env'tl. Solutions, Inc. v. South Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 351 S.C. 175, 180, 568 S.E.2d 365, 368 (2002); *Heater of Seabrook, Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n of South Carolina*, 324 S.C. 56, 60, 478 S.E.2d 826, 828 (1996); *Hamm v. South Carolina Pub. Serv. Comm'n*, 309 S.C. 282, 422 S.E.2d 110 (1992). The Commission's findings are presumptively correct, and the party challenging a decision of the Commission bears the burden of showing that the decision is "clearly erroneous in view of the substantial evidence on the whole record." *Id.*

The question of subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law. *Bargesser v. Coleman Co.*, 230 S.C. 562, 96 S.E.2d 825 (1957). A court's subject matter jurisdiction is determined by whether it has the authority to hear the type of case in question. *Allison v. WL Gore & Assocs.*, 394 S.C. 185, 188, 714 S.E.2d 547, 549 (2011)." This same principle applies to administrative agencies." *Id.*

FACTS

Appellants are John and Nancy Halwig, the owners of 46 Driftwood Cottage Lane, Daufuskie Island, Beaufort County, South Carolina, and Beverly and Stephen Noller, the owners of 36 Driftwood Cottage Lane, Daufuskie Island, Beaufort County, South Carolina.

Appellants' properties are within Melrose Plantation on Daufuskie Island. The Driftwood Cottage Lane area within Melrose has suffered from Hurricane Matthew, which struck on October 8, 2016. As a result of the erosion from Hurricane Matthew, a portion of Driftwood Cottage Lane was washed out, and with it water and sewer mains owned by the Respondent DIUC. While the homes to the south of the washout on Driftwood Cottage Lane continued to have service from DIUC, the homes and lots north of the washout, particularly the homes of John and Nancy Halwig and Beverly and Stephen Noller, did not. When Respondent DIUC was asked when it would restore the utility service to these homes, the utility stated in a letter that it would not be able to restore service and that the two families on that street would have to provide an alternative extension of mains and utilities at their own, personal cost. Letter from DIUC to Josey December 10, 2015, Complainants Exhibit of Direct Testimony of Michael Halwig filed January 23, 2019, Part 2, page 1 of 33, (R. p. 155)¹. When the Halwigs filed a Complaint with the South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff ("ORS") regarding the refusal of Respondent DIUC to restore service, the ORS replied that the statutes do not provide a definitive time frame within which service has to be restored.²

¹ Note the Appellants did not see this letter until over a year later after Hurricane Matthew. Rebuttal Testimony of Michael Halwig filed February 13, 2019, pp. 5 (R. p. 80) (first question and answer)

² Letter from ORS to Dr. Halwig dated December 2, 2016, Exhibit DMH 3 of direct testimony of Ms. Hipp, ORS, filed February 6, 2019, pp. 18-19 (R. pp. 71-72).

Appellants had no choice but to obtain water and sewer service from DIUC. The Complaint filed with the Commission in this matter concerns the refusal of Respondent DIUC to provide water or sewer service to Respondents following damage to its mains under a portion of Driftwood Cottage Lane. DIUC insisted that these customers plan, obtain the permits for, and pay for the construction and installation of mains connecting the water and sewer mains on Martinangel Road to those on Driftwood Cottage Lane adjacent to their properties before it would restore service. Appellants engaged an engineer, hired a contractor and began installation in November 2017 so they could get water and sewer service restored and stop the suffering of the loss of use of their homes since October 2016. Rebuttal Testimony of Michael Halwig filed February 13, 2019, pp. 3 (R. p. 81) (second question and answer).

In January 2018 DIUC proffered a written agreement (the Customer Service Agreement, Complainants Exhibits filed January 23, 2019, Part 5, pp. 23-25 (R. pp. 15-17)) requiring Appellants pay for the installation that they had already begun and provide the installed mains to it upon completion in order to restore their water and sewer service. The Agreement was not submitted to or approved by the ORS or the Commission before being presented to and executed. Rather than walk away from and abandon their homes, and since they had already contracted someone to install the replacement mains and had no other choice to restore service, Appellants signed the Agreement. Following the installation of the replacement water and sewer mains, Respondent DIUC refused again to provide service until Appellants signed a new agreement, the Addendum to the Customer Service Agreement, Complainants Exhibits filed January 23, 2019, Part 5, pp. 19-23 (R. pp. 18-20), in which DIUC demanded (1) payment of additional expenses never mentioned in the initial Customer Service Agreement, including its attorney's fees and taxes expected to be imposed on Respondent DIUC for the costs of installation paid for by the

Appellants for the replacement mains; and (2) a withdrawal and release of any and all claims and complaints the Appellants asserted or may assert against Respondent DIUC before the Commission or otherwise in regard to the installation of the replacement mains. Respondent DIUC demanded execution of this Addendum and payment prior to restoring water and sewer service to the Appellants' homes. Respondent DIUC did not provide service until after Appellants filed the Complaint with the Commission in this matter. ORS Letter to Commission December 21, 2018 (R. p. 155); DIUC Letter to counsel and ORS December 26, 2018 (R. p. 163).

Appellants were without water and sewer service for over two (2) years, initiated and completed the installation of replacement mains at their cost and provided them to Respondent DIUC, and had to execute the Agreement with Respondent DIUC to be assured of getting service restored. Appellants have no assurance that DIUC will continue to provide service other than the initial Order of the Commission dismissing the matter. Order No. 2019-424 of June 12, 2019 (R. pp. 2-3).

ARGUMENTS

I. THE COMMISSION MADE AN ERROR OF LAW IN DENYING JURISDICTION OVER THIS MATTER WITHOUT ADDRESSING THE REQUIREMENT TO APPROVE THE AGREEMENT AT ISSUE.

The Commission committed an error of law in denying its jurisdiction in this matter without addressing the Customer Service Agreement and the requirement to review and approve it prior to its execution pursuant to S.C. Code Reg. 103-541 and -743. The regulations required the Commission to review this contract prior to execution, and it did not do so, because Respondent DIUC failed to provide it for review. Through this Agreement, DIUC shifted the cost burden of maintaining its service and systems to the Appellants by forcing them to replace DIUC's facilities and equipment purportedly in an effort to avoid a request for a rate increase,

or the alternative of paying for the replacement mains itself. DIUC claimed that the responsibility to maintain DIUC's facilities and equipment was the responsibility of the Appellants, because such maintenance would affect the utility's future rates. Direct Testimony of John Guastella filed February 6, 2019, p.3 1.14 - p. 4 1.20 (R. p. 49 1.14 - R. p. 50 1.20). The Commission has the sole authority to set rates for public utilities, such as DIUC. The Commission has the jurisdiction and the duty to review this Agreement and its effect because it addresses both DIUC's rates and service. DIUC has not followed the Commission's regulations in forcing the Appellants to pay for the utility's facilities and equipment and in failing to present the Agreement to the Commission for approval before entering into it. The Commission's failure to address the Agreement and determining the request for reimbursement was a claim for monetary damages is arbitrary, capricious and erroneous. No damages from loss of use of their property were requested, only reimbursement of the cost of installing the mains.

The Commission is a creature of statute, and its authority is limited to that granted by the statutes. *Nucor Steel, a Div. of Nucor Corp. v. Public Service Comm.*, 310 S.C. 539, 426 S.E.2d 319 (S.C. 1992)(citations omitted). Such statutes must be interpreted according to their clear meaning. *Id.* The regulations promulgated by the Commission likewise are derived from the statute, and, in interpreting the statute and regulations, they must be given their plain meaning. *See Doe v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Human Services*, 727 S.E.2d 605, 398 S.C. 62 (S.C. 2011).

The Commission has broad jurisdiction to regulate all public utilities in South Carolina. The review and approval of rates charged for utility services is a significant part of the jurisdiction of the Commission, but not the only part. The following applicable statutes provide for regulation of public utility operations on a broad spectrum:

SECTION 58-3-140. Powers to regulate public utilities. (A) Except as otherwise provided in Chapter 9 of this title, the commission is vested with power and jurisdiction to supervise and regulate the rates and service of every public utility in this State and to fix just and reasonable standards, classifications, regulations, practices, and measurements of service to be furnished, imposed, or observed, and followed by every public utility in this State.

SECTION 58-5-210. Supervision and regulation of rates and service. The Public Service Commission is hereby, to the extent granted, vested with power and jurisdiction to supervise and regulate the rates and service of every public utility in this State, together with the power, after hearing, to ascertain and fix such just and reasonable standards, classifications, regulations, practices and measurements of service to be furnished, imposed, observed and followed by every public utility in this State and the State hereby asserts its rights to regulate the rates and services of every "public utility" as herein defined.

SECTION 58-5-290. Correction by Commission of improper rates and the like. Whenever the Commission shall find, after hearing, that the rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges or classifications or any of them, however or whensoever they shall have theretofore been fixed or established, demanded, observed, charged or collected by any public utility for any service, product or commodity, or that the rules, regulations or practices, or any of them, affecting such rates, fares, tolls, rentals, charges or classifications, or any of them, are unjust, unreasonable, noncompensatory, inadequate, discriminatory or preferential or in any wise in violation of any provision of law, the Commission shall, subject to review by the courts, as herein provided, determine the just and reasonable fares, tolls, rentals, charges or classifications, rules, regulations or practices to be thereafter observed and enforced and shall fix them by order as herein provided.

There is no question that DIUC is subject to the Commission's jurisdiction and applicable statutes and regulations over water and sewer services, not only for its rates charged to customers but also the practices, standards and services of this and any other public utility.

The Commission has the authority to review the business practices and expenses of a public utility. *See Utilities Services of SC v. Office of Regulatory Staff*, 392 S.C. 96, 708 S.E.2d 755 (SC 2011); *Kiawah Property Owners Group v. Public Service Comm.*, 392 S.C. 232, 593 S.E.2d 148 (SC 2004); and *Patton v. Public Service Comm.*, 280 S.C. 288, 312 S.E.2d 257 (SC 1984). In exercising its power to supervise and regulate rates and service, "the Commission must be allowed the discretion of imposing reasonable requirements on its jurisdictional utilities

to insure that adequate and proper service will be rendered to the customers of the utility companies.” *Patton*, 312 S.E.2d at 260. The Commission “is entitled to create incentives for utilities to improve their business practices.” 708 S.E.2d at 760. The Commission “may determine that some portion of an expense actually incurred by a utility should not be passed on to consumers.” *Id.* The Commission “may determine - independent of any party - that an expenditure is suspect and requires further scrutiny.” *Id.* at 761. Just as the Commission has the authority to review a public utility’s expenses and business practices at the time of a request for a rate increase, the Commission also has the authority and the obligation to evaluate a utility’s expenses and business practices upon complaint of its customers, particularly when such business practices are employed in order to circumvent the Commission’s authority to establish its rates and avoid review of contracts that enable service to be provided. The Commission has not only the explicit authority provided in the statutes and regulations cited above and in Appellants’ Brief but also the implicit authority needed to carry out those responsibilities. *See Hamm v. Central States Health and Life Co. of Omaha*, 299 S.C. 500, 386 S.E.2d 250 (1989)(holding in favor of the implied power to issue refunds).

The Commission also has authority over a utility’s agreements regarding its willingness and ability to provide service under the Agreement. Commission regulations require a utility to submit a contract regarding utility service to the ORS *and* to obtain approval from the Commission:

No utility shall execute or enter into any agreement or contract with any person, firm, partnership, or corporation or any agency of the Federal, state, or local government which would impact, pertain to, or effect said utility’s fitness, willingness, or ability to provide sewerage service, including but not limited to the treatment of said water, **without first** submitting said contract in form to the commission and the ORS and **obtaining approval of the commission.**

S.C. Code Reg. 103-541 (emphasis added) and 103-743 (water service). This language requires that the Customer Service Agreement be submitted to the Commission and the ORS, and also that it be approved by the Commission. The Agreement addresses and affects the utility's willingness or ability to provide water and sewer services. Regulation 103-703.C³ supports the fact that the agreement is not deemed approved or consented to by the mere filing of it. DIUC did not even file the Agreement.

DIUC did not present the Customer Service Agreement to the ORS or the Commission for review and approval prior to execution, and never presented the Addendum to the Customer Service Agreement to them. The Commission has the authority to approve, or not approve, such an agreement. Approval of this Agreement, forced upon Appellants under threat of losing their homes, would be inconsistent with Commission regulations and the statutory authority to regulate the services of every utility in this state.

After execution, DIUC presented the Customer Service Agreement to ORS.⁴ While the ORS responded that DIUC did not need to submit it without any explanation, the regulation clearly requires that the Commission review the agreement and make this decision. This is clear jurisdictional authority for the Commission to find the agreement was not authorized, is void and for the parties to be put back in their positions prior to entering into the agreement. This would require Respondent to reimburse Appellants for the expense of replacing DIUC's mains. Unlike the term used by the Commission, Appellants did not seek monetary damages but only reimbursement of the cost of installation of the water and sewer mains now owned by DIUC.

³ S.C. Code Reg. 103-703.C provides "No rate, *contract*, or rules and regulations of any utility under the jurisdiction of this commission shall be deemed approved or consented to by the mere filing of a schedule, or other evidence thereof, in the offices of the commission." (*emphasis added*).

⁴ See Respondent's pre-filed testimony of Michael Guastella, Pages 21, ll 15-23 (R. p. 66 ll 15-23), page 22, ll 1-2 (R. p. 67 ll 1-2).

Order No. 2019-424 of June 12, 2019 (R. pp. 2-3); Order No. 2019-523 of July 17, 2019 (R. p. 4); Complaint of Appellants filed November 16, 2018 (R. pp. 6-14).

Under Regulation 103-755, a utility can charge a customer all of the costs of installing and removing the service equipment when there is a provision of temporary service to a customer. The permanent replacement of the utility's own mains in this matter is not a temporary service but a permanent service which allows these Appellants to again enjoy the use of their private property. There is not a regulatory basis for requiring customers to replace water and sewer mains damaged by a storm. There is not a regulatory basis for avoiding review and approval of an agreement required by those regulations.

DIUC claimed that it can force Appellants to pay for the replacement mains under Regulations 103-702.4 and 103-502.3, which provide as follows:

A fee paid by a customer under a contract entered into by and between the utility and its customer providing terms for the extension of the utility's mains to service the customer.⁵

Respondent DIUC has claimed that the Customer Service Agreement is such a contract. However, Appellants were not requesting an extension of the utility's mains but repair and replacement of mains that were already in place. Before the mains were damaged by the storm in 2016, the water and sewer mains under Driftwood Cottage Lane were connected to the mains under Martinangel Road below where part of these mains were damaged on Driftwood Cottage Lane. The replacement mains installed by Appellants under the golf course connect the same mains. This work did not extend service to a new customer, and there was no increase or expansion of the service area of DIUC through replacement of the mains that were damaged.

⁵ This water regulation refers to a customer contribution in aid of construction, while the sewer regulation refers to a customer main extension fee.

Appellants had no choice but to abandon their homes or begin mitigating their damages by beginning the process to replace the mains to obtain service from DIUC. Only after Appellants had already hired the engineer and contractor and started the work did DIUC require a written agreement. The regulation referenced by DIUC is not a basis for forcing any agreement on an existing customer.

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