THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

In the Court of Appeals

APPEAL FROM  
THE PUBLIC SERVICE COMMISSION

Appellate Case No. 2019-001354

**RECEIVED**

**Jul 28 2020**

**SC Court of Appeals**

Stephen and Beverly Noller and  
Michael and Nancy Halwig,.....Appellants,

v.

Daufuskie Island Utility Company, Incorporated, and  
South Carolina Office of Regulatory Staff,.....Respondents.

**AMENDED FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT  
DAUFUSKIE ISLAND UTILITY COMPANY, INC.**

Thomas P. Gressette, Jr. (S.C. Bar #14065)  
Email: [Gressette@WGFLAW.com](mailto:Gressette@WGFLAW.com)  
G. Trenholm Walker (S.C. Bar #5777)  
Email: [Walker@WGFLAW.com](mailto:Walker@WGFLAW.com)

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

Appellants have now returned to the Commission in a new proceeding to demand a monetary award for the costs they voluntarily incurred. Notably, in the new complaint Appellants also claim they were somehow coerced or under duress at the time they entered the CSA with DIUC. (Rebuttal Testimony of N. Halwig “We did not breach the agreement, which we were forced into. It was not voluntary.”) **(See also R. p. 83)** (describing the CSA as a “forced Agreement”))

Instead of appealing to the Commission following ORS's response to the first complaint filed immediately after Hurricane Matthew in 2016, Appellants took matters into their own hands and now they seek an order from the Commission requiring DIUC to pay for the costs the Appellants incurred voluntarily and in conjunction with the CSA. *Ultimately, via the underlying complaint Appellants are asking the Commission to order DIUC to pay the Appellants \$120,000 and to find that the Appellants are not responsible for approximately \$37,000 in taxes that DIUC will incur by incorporating the infrastructure the Appellants installed to get service to 36 and 46 Driftwood Cottage Lane.* Appellants also claim that the CSA is invalid because it was not approved by the Commission.

Again, in its Answer, DIUC explained its position:

Based upon the terms of the CSA and all the information available to date, the Customers are obligated to pay the tax obligation of \$37,545.93, which is equal to 33.24% of \$112,954.07, that DIUC must pay in taxes, plus reimbursement for DIUC legal fees in the amount of \$3,900.

As indicated in DIUC's communications with the Customers' counsel and filings in this matter, DIUC remains willing to cooperate with the Customers and to assist as it is able. However, DIUC is not at this time authorized to pass on to its ratepayers these costs attributable solely to the installation of the Project Mains for the Customers. To ensure its collection of these costs and to prevent DIUC's other customers from bearing the burden of the same, DIUC requires remittance per the CSA prior to activating service for the Customers.

**(R. p. 29)**

After the parties exchanged discovery and prefiled witness testimonies for a hearing, the Commission determined the issue of jurisdiction should be examined. The Hearing Officer entered Directive Order No. 2019-22-H which set a schedule for the parties to brief the Commission on "matters of jurisdiction." **(R. p. 1)** Appellants and Respondent DIUC submitted briefs. **(R. p. 173 and R. p. 180)** ORS filed a letter with the Commission. **(R. p. 171)**

On March 20, 2019, the Commission convened a hearing wherein Appellants and Respondent DIUC presented their positions and addressed questions from the Commission.

On June 12, 2019, upon the motion of Commissioner Ervin, the Commission issued Order No. 2019-424 finding:

1. ...the Public Service Commission does not have the statutory authority to grant monetary damages, which is the relief requested in the pleadings.
2. ... to the extent that it is within our jurisdictional authority, I move that we stay any disconnection of service for the residences in question, while these contractual disputes are pending.

**(R. p. 2)**

On June 21, 2019, Appellants filed a Motion for Reconsideration, which was denied on July 17, 2019. In denying the Motion for Reconsideration the Commission found:

1. DIUC began providing water and sewer service to the homeowners in December of 2018. This issue has long-since been rendered moot.<sup>3</sup>
2. The Commission does not have “jurisdiction to hear this matter in order to remedy the failure of DIUC to submit the Customer Service Agreement for approval (pursuant to S.C. Code Reg. 103-541 and 103-743) before it was entered into with Homeowners. While it is true that this Commission has broad authority over approval of contracts entered into by regulated entities, even if the Commission were to find such actions were violative of properly promulgated regulations, that would still not grant the Commission an ability it does not possess, i.e., we cannot grant monetary damages under an allegedly invalid contract, and in this Petition the Appellants are seeking monetary damages, and that would be for a court of competent jurisdiction, not a proper matter for the South Carolina Public Service Commission.”
3. The Appellants believe the Commission has the ability to provide monetary damages to the Appellants. In fact, the Appellants cite S.C. Code Ann. Section 58-5-270 and Section 58-5-710.

Under -270, the Commission certainly does have the jurisdictional authority to hear complaints properly brought before it. However, in this case, monetary

---

<sup>3</sup> Nothing remains to be “ordered” regarding provision of service; service was restored to both dwellings in December 2018. (See **R. p. 2** (requiring a stay of any discontinuation of service “while these contractual disputes are pending.”))

damages are being sought – and the Commission simply does not have the authority to grant such an award.

The Commission does have authority under -710 to levy a fine or penalty against a regulated utility if the utility is failing to show cause as to why it is not taking steps to provide adequate water and sewer service. As I mentioned earlier, service has been and is continuing to be rendered to the Appellants. Even if that weren't that case, any fines or penalties levied by this Commission go into the General Fund of the State, not to the Appellants.

**(R. p. 4)**

On August 15, 2019, Appellants filed their Notice of Appeal.

## ARGUMENTS

### **I. THE COMMISSION PROPERLY DECLINED TO ASSERT JURISDICTION OVER APPELLANTS' COMPLAINT REQUESTING THE COMMISSION AWARD MONETARY DAMAGES.**

Subject matter jurisdiction is “the power to hear and determine cases of the general class to which the proceedings in question belong.” Dove v. Gold Kist, Inc., 314 S.C. 235, 237–38, 442 S.E.2d 598, 600 (1994). “The question of subject matter jurisdiction is a question of law.” Gantt v. Selph, 423 S.C. 333, 337–38, 814 S.E.2d 523, 525–26 (2018). The importance of addressing jurisdictional questions accurately and early in a proceeding is necessitated by the fact that “lack of subject matter jurisdiction may be raised at any time, and may [even] be raised for the first time on appeal.” Linda Mc Co., Inc. v. Shore, 390 S.C. 543, 557, 703 S.E.2d 499, 506 (2010).

It is well established that the Public Service Commission of South Carolina (“the Commission”) is a body of limited jurisdiction and has only such powers as are conferred, expressly or by reasonably necessary implication, or such as are merely incidental to the powers expressly granted.” Black River Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 238 S.C. 282, 292, 120 S.E.2d 6, 11 (1961) (citing Beard-Laney, Inc. v. Darby, 213 S.C. 380, 49 S.E.2d 564 (1948) and Piedmont & Northern Railroad Co. v. Scott et al., 202 S.C. 207, 24 S.E.2d 353 (1943)).

The limitations upon the Commission’s jurisdiction are not treated lightly by the Commission or by South Carolina courts. In fact, when faced with a controversy that does not fall clearly within the confines of its prescribed jurisdiction, this Court has held that the Commission is required to abstain from exercising any power over the controversy:

Such bodies, [including specifically the South Carolina Public Service Commission], being unknown to the common law, and deriving their authority wholly from constitutional statutory provisions, will be held to possess only such powers as are conferred expressly or by reasonably necessary implication, or such as are merely incidental to the powers expressly granted. See 51 C.J. 36, 37, where among other things it is said: “Any reasonable doubt of the existence in the

Commission of any particular power should ordinarily be resolved against its exercise of the power.”

S.C. Elec. & Gas Co. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 275 S.C. 487, 489–90, 272 S.E.2d 793, 794–95 (1980). Furthermore, in Piedmont & Northern Railway Co. v. Scott the South Carolina Supreme Court cautioned that “the Supreme Court of the United States has pointed out that asserted powers [of regulating commissions] are not to be derived from mere inference. They must be founded upon language in the enabling acts... .” Piedmont & Northern Railway Co. v. Scott, 202 S.C. at 223-224, 24 S.E.2d at 360 (1943) (citing Siler v. Louisville & Northern Railway Co., 213 U.S. 175, 29 S.Ct. 451 (1909) [regarding state commissions] and Interstate Commerce Commission v. Cincinnati, etc., R. Co., 167 U.S. 479, 17 S.Ct. 896 (1897) [regarding federal commissions]).

Determining whether the Commission has jurisdiction, then, requires review of the Commission’s enabling statute(s) (ie, the Commission’s authority) to determine if the General Assembly intended to provide the Commission jurisdiction over the specific claims raised in the matter. See Black River Elec. Co-op., Inc. v. Pub. Serv. Comm'n, 238 S.C. 282, 120 S.E.2d 6 (1961) (South Carolina Supreme Court analyzing the Commission’s enabling statutes, the purpose of those statutes, and then determining if the Commission has jurisdiction to act in matter).

The sources of the Commission’s authority and power potentially relevant to the matter raised below are set forth below.

**S.C. Code Ann. § 58-3-140(A)**

[T]he commission is vested with power and jurisdiction to supervise and regulate the rates and service of every public utility in this State and to fix just and reasonable standards, classifications, regulations, practices, and measurements of service to be furnished, imposed, or observed, and followed by every public utility in this State.”

**S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-210**

The Public Service Commission is hereby, to the extent granted, vested with power and jurisdiction to supervise and regulate the rates and service of every public utility in this State, together with the power, after hearing, to ascertain and fix such just

and reasonable standards, classifications, regulations, practices and measurements of service to be furnished, imposed, observed and followed by every public utility in this State and the State hereby asserts its rights to regulate the rates and services of every 'public utility' as herein defined.

**S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-10(4)**

The term "public utility" includes "every corporation and person furnishing or supplying in any manner ... water, sewerage collection, sewerage disposal ... to the public, or any portion thereof, for compensation...."

**S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-270**

Applications may be made by any corporation, public or private, person ... by petition in writing, setting forth any act or thing done, or omitted to be done, with respect to which, under the provisions of Articles 1, 3, and 5 of this chapter, the commission has jurisdiction or is alleged to have jurisdiction. Individual consumer complaints must be filed with the Office of Regulatory Staff.... The commission has jurisdiction to hear complaints regarding the reasonableness of any rates or charges that affect the general body of ratepayers; but the commission may at its discretion refuse to entertain a petition as to the reasonableness of any rates or charges...."

**S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-710**

The Public Service Commission, upon petition by any interested party, shall have the right to require any person or corporation, as defined in Section 58-5-10, operating a water or sewer utility system ... to appear before the commission on proper notice and show cause why that utility should not be required to take steps as are necessary to provide adequate and proper service to its customers. If the commission upon hearing determines that the service is not being provided, it shall issue an order requiring the utility to take steps as are necessary to the provision of the service within a reasonable time as prescribed by the commission. [...]

S.C. Code Ann. Sections 53-3-140, 58-5-210, 58-5-10(4), 58-5-270, and 58-5-710.

The "relief requested" by the Appellants was two-fold: "The customers Halwig and Noller request the Commission require DIUC to immediately restore service through the replacement lines and to compel DIUC to refund the full costs paid by the customers for the replacement lines."

**(R. pp. 6 to 8)**

Shortly after filing of the second complaint, ORS requested that DIUC restore service to the Appellants' dwellings "with the understanding that restoration of service does not waive any position that any party may take in this matter." **(R. p. 155)** DIUC immediately restored service

to the dwellings.<sup>4</sup> Because DIUC currently provides service to the Appellants' dwellings the Appellants have obtained their first requested relief. As such, the claim is moot. See Sloan v. Friends of Hunley, Inc., 369 S.C. 20, 26, 630 S.E.2d 474, 478 (2006) (holding that once FOIA documents produced there is no claim for FOIA violation). Nothing remains to be "ordered" for DIUC to do regarding provision of service; service has been restored and the Commission should not further consider the request. See Byrd v. Irmo High School, 321 S.C. 426, 430, 468 S.E.2d 861, 864 (1996); see also Leventis v. South Carolina Dept. of Health and Environmental Control, 340 S.C. 118, 133, 530 S.E.2d 643, 651 (2000) (party seeking administrative relief bears the burden of establishing that required conditions of eligibility have been met).

Appellants also asked for a monetary award – specifically, for the Commission “to compel DIUC to refund the full costs paid by the customers for the replacement lines.” (**R. pp. 6 to 8 and R. p. 14**) (“The PSC should require that DIUC reimburse the Halwigs and the Nollers for all costs paid to replace the mains serving the portion of Driftwood Cottage Lane above the road wash out.”). To be clear, Appellants asked the Commission to order that DIUC reimburse the Appellants approximately \$120,000 for costs the Appellants voluntarily paid before signing the CSA wherein they agreed, “In order to protect other customers from sharing in the cost responsibility, it would be the responsibility of the affected Customers to have the Project Mains installed in accordance with the plans they solicited from Thomas & Hutton, at their cost.” (**R. pp. 15 to 17**) (Copy of CSA (discussed, supra, highlighting the Complaint’s admission that “The Customer Service Agreement provides that the Halwigs and Nollers were to install the mains at their own expense.”)

Appellants brought a claim to undo a contract that they admit they signed and that they

---

<sup>4</sup> Order 2019-424 confirms service to Appellants shall continue while the Appellants’ “contractual disputes are pending.” (**R. p. 2**)

admit obligates them to pay for the facilities they installed. Had the hearing proceeded, Appellants actually intended to ask the Commission to make a determination that they entered into the CSA contract under duress and that therefore the Commission should enter an order voiding the contract and awarding the Appellants' monetary damages. (**R. pp. 80, 83, and 85**) All three of the Appellants testimonies states that "the costs of installation were agreed to be paid by" the Appellants per the CSA but that the CSA was made "under duress with no other alternative but to abandon our home." (Id.) Appellants clearly and specifically asked for a Commission ruling that the Appellants "did not breach the agreement, which [they] were forced into. It was not voluntary, it was extortion." (Id.)

Not only was the request entirely unreasonable and contrary to contract law, it is far beyond the bounds of the Commission's jurisdiction.

Nowhere in the authorizing legislation of the Commission is there a grant of jurisdiction to hear a claim like this – a contract claim seeking an award of monetary damages. This claim has nothing to do with regulation of rates under S.C. Code Ann. § 58-3-140(A). The relief is not covered by the authorization of this Commission to set utility rates pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 58-5-210. Additionally, even though this matter is before the Commission via what has been characterized as a customer complaint, the claims are not "regarding the reasonableness of any rates or charges that affect the general body of ratepayers," as authorized for Commission jurisdiction by S.C. Code § 58-5-270. The fact that there is a customer-utility relationship among the parties cannot create Commission jurisdiction where there is none. The Commission dismissed the underlying action for lack of jurisdiction.

The Commission ruling below is also in accord with previous rulings of the South Carolina appellate courts. For example, in Lindler v. Baker, 280 S.C. 130, 131–32, 311 S.E.2d 99, 100 (Ct.

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